

How State and Local Governments Can Strengthen Worker Power and Raise Wages

By David Madland and Alex Rowell

May 2017



How State and Local Governments Can Strengthen Worker Power and Raise Wages

By David Madland and Alex Rowell

May 2017

Contents

1 Introduction and summary

7 Unpacking the 8 policy recommendations

- 7 Establish new industrywide standards with wage boards
- 9 Support existing industrywide standards with prevailing wages
- 11 Raise standards on government spending to improve results and support good jobs
- 12 Improve enforcement by partnering with worker organizations
- 15 Promote high-quality training through labor-management partnerships and worker organizations
- 18 Use worker organizations to improve workplace benefits
- 19 Use licensing and permitting so the market supports high-road firms and organizations
- 20 Lower barriers to joining worker organizations

22 Conclusion

23 About the authors and acknowledgments

24 Endnotes

Introduction and summary

American workers understand that today's economy is not working for them. The benefits of increased productivity and economic growth are largely accruing to a wealthy few, not the majority of workers. Over the past 40 years, incomes for the richest 1 percent have more than tripled, while the incomes of the bottom 90 percent have barely grown faster than inflation. Four decades ago, CEOs made roughly 30 times what the typical worker made, but now they make around 275 times more than the typical worker. This situation is not only bad for workers, but it also poses a threat to our future economic growth as well as our democracy.

Numerous reforms are necessary to raise wages, reduce inequality, and make democracy work for all Americans—including reforms that lessen the influence of money in politics, promote full employment, raise the minimum wage, and improve workplace standards. But among the most important reforms are those that give workers ways to band together and have a strong collective voice. State and local governments have an important role to play in this crucial reform effort.

The ability to stand together and bargain collectively enables workers to negotiate with CEOs on relatively even footing to not only increase their own wages but also improve labor standards across the economy and reduce income inequality.⁴ Estimates indicate that roughly one-third of the rise of inequality among men over recent decades is due to the decline of unions.⁵

In addition, when workers have a strong collective voice, they can make politicians more responsive to the concerns of ordinary Americans and provide a key counterbalance to wealthy special interests. Union members are much more likely to vote, take political action, join other groups, and be more charitable because unions provide workers—particularly those with less education and lower incomes—with the means and opportunity to stand up for themselves and participate more fully in our democracy. Indeed, unions are an essential antidote to the feelings of powerlessness that have contributed to the rise of President Donald Trump and could possibly even lead to more overt authoritarianism.

But new and better ways are needed for workers to have a strong collective voice than are provided in current law. The basic principle ingrained in federal law that workers have the right to join together and bargain collectively to improve their conditions is correct, but the law needs to be updated to ensure that workers can actually exercise their collective voice. Although federal and state laws do provide significant constraints, state and local governments have many channels to help workers build the power they need to raise their wages.

Perhaps the most well-known problem with current labor law is that there are virtually no repercussions for companies that break the rules and fire workers for exercising basic rights. This depresses union membership below what it would be if workers were protected when seeking to exercise their rights and weakens the power of unions trying to improve workplace conditions.⁸

A less well-known, but no less central flaw in our current system is that it channels collective bargaining to the firm level—or a unit within a firm—instead of to a higher level such as a group of firms in a region or industry. Firm-level bargaining has become less effective as the nature of the firm has changed, with companies increasingly "fissuring" by contracting out work and directly employing fewer employees. Firm-level bargaining also leads to conflict because it means that unionized firms typically have higher labor costs than their competitors, which often leads to a host of unproductive reactions in the workplace such as management engaging in costly and conflictual anti-union campaigns to undermine workers. The current system of firm-level bargaining also leaves out many workers: 93 percent of private-sector workers are not in a union—though in some regions and industries many more workers are covered. ¹⁰

Scholars and practitioners have long recognized these problems and increasingly have recommended bold reforms to address them, with a number of recent papers calling for moving toward industrywide bargaining.¹¹

In the 2016 report "The Future of Worker Voice and Power," the Center for American Progress laid out a broad vision for how to modernize labor law and build a system that works better for workers as well as the larger economy. ¹² The modernization is based on elements that are currently working well in a few areas of the United States and have proven successful in U.S. history and in a number of other countries.

In this new system, most bargaining would take place above the firm level, at the region or industry level. This would not only help raise wages for union and nonunion workers alike, but it would also provide a wage structure that increases productivity by ensuring similar pay for similar work as well as directing some conflict outside the firm, which would allow relations between workers and their managers to be more cooperative and productive. The modernized system would foster new kinds of workplace organizations that facilitate collaboration, such as works councils. Workers would be provided with incentives to join unions, worker centers, and other types of worker organizations, helping address the free-rider problems that plagued our old system. Finally, basic rights would be enhanced and protections increased.

In short, under the new system, workers would have more power and their power would be channeled in ways that are more fruitful. Not only would workers gain, but so would high-road businesses that would be able to compete on an even playing field. Productivity would also increase, benefiting the whole economy.¹³

Implementing the entire agenda would require federal action, but even considering pre-emption concerns, state and local governments have significant powers to affect several of the most important channels of modernization. ¹⁴ State and local governments have the ability to raise standards across entire industries, sectors, or regions through a variety of policies that approach the ideal labor relations system in which most bargaining takes place above the level of the firm. Similarly, state and local governments have several important levers that can make it easier for workers to join together in unions and new forms of worker organization, as well as promoting partnerships between government, business, and labor. This is critical because higher industrywide wages may be just a fleeting phenomenon if workers do not have the power to ensure that political and economic systems work for them.

This report focuses on eight policy mechanisms that state and local governments can use to raise wages at an industry or sectoral level and to support worker organizations. The eight policy areas—wage boards, prevailing wages, improved enforcement, sectoral training, program navigation, government purchasing, licensing and permitting, and facilitating membership—are summarized in the text box below. Some policies affect both wage-setting and worker organization, while others have more a more focused effect.

Cities and states have implemented policies in all eight of the areas, providing examples for others to follow. Some of the policies can be implemented through executive action, though new legislation is often required to achieve the ideal policy. While states such as California and New York and cities such as Seattle, Los Angeles, and San Francisco provide many of the examples, some of the examples come from relatively conservative states such as Alaska, or progressive cities in conservative states such as Austin, Texas. Even the most progressive cities and states have hardly begun to implement all of the policies they could to promote sectoral bargaining and support worker organizations.

The policies laid out in this report run the gamut from the tried and true to more novel approaches, providing a menu of items that can make sense in a range of political environments. In a few areas, courts have rendered conflicting judgments on the legality of state or local action. And while this report emphasizes the goals of sectoral wage-setting or building worker organization, some policies are primarily focused on other goals, such as improving the results of government spending, and only secondarily achieve the aims of this report. Similarly, the report generally uses the term "worker organization" to emphasize the need to build worker power through all types of organizations, including unions, worker centers, and new kinds of organizations, though there are important differences between these kinds of organizations. Where the law and politics allow it, state and local governments should push for policies to support unions, as they have the strongest rights and powers of the different types of worker organizations, as well as alternative forms of worker organizations.

The need for a full-throated embrace of worker power has never been stronger. Because of inadequate worker power, our economy, democracy, and social cohesion are all in trouble. Unfortunately, because of the current makeup of the federal government, national efforts will be focused on defending workers' rights instead of on passing national legislation to modernize labor law. As such, state and local governments have an opportunity and an obligation to lead the way to strengthen worker voice and power. This report helps outline the path forward.

8 policies to rebuild worker power at the state and local levels

Establish new industrywide standards with wage boards

Bring together workers, businesses, and the government in a commission to set minimum working standards for industries and occupations. These wage boards would set minimum standards for wages and benefits based on economic and social factors such as industry productivity and cost of living, as well as testimony from business owners, workers, and other stakeholders. The board could even set pay levels above the overall minimum wage floor and provide pay differentials for workers with additional skills or experience. While some states currently allow officials to convene similar bodies, others would require new legislation. For workers who are not covered by the National Labor Relations Act, or NLRA, wage boards could even directly promote sectoral bargaining.

Support existing industrywide standards with prevailing wages

Use prevailing wage laws to ensure that government spending—in both the construction and service sectors—is not used to drive down wages. In addition to expanding prevailing wage protection to additional types of contract spending as well as grants, loans, and tax expenditures, policymakers should set predominant collectively bargained wages in a region and industry as the prevailing wage. This type of wage-setting would help ensure that high-road companies who pay their workers good wages are not undercut by companies that treat their employees poorly.

Raise standards on government spending to improve results and support good jobs

Attach standards to government funds to ensure that taxpayers receive the best possible results. State and local governments fund millions of jobs through their spending on contracts, grants, loans, tax breaks, and economic development subsidies. This funding should be structured so that it creates good jobs that benefit the entire community. For example, governments can require labor peace agreements in order to prevent labor disputes, or give preference to the bids of high-road employers who have a track record of complying with the law.

Improve enforcement by partnering with worker organizations

Combat wage theft and other labor standard violations by including community and worker organizations in enforcement efforts and allowing workers to go to court to enforce labor laws. Governments can better enforce the law and empower workers to stand up for their rights by working with and providing grants to organizations that have day-to-day contact with workers and vulnerable populations. These groups have workers' trust and thus have information about what is happening to them that government is not privy to—as vulnerable workers are often afraid to talk to government officials. As such, these groups can serve as key intermediaries to bring workers and government together by informing workers of their rights and by helping workers take action to receive their earned pay and benefits.

Promote high-quality training through labormanagement partnerships and worker organizations

Provide high-quality training opportunities for workers by promoting sectorwide training partnerships with labor organizations and industry groups. This can be done by instituting new training requirements for government services such as home care, promoting apprenticeship programs, and directing that training and education funds that state and local governments have control over go to labor-management training partnerships.

Use worker organizations to improve workplace benefits

Help ensure government programs reach the workers who need them by including worker organizations in the provision of benefits. Worker organizations can improve benefit provision in a variety of ways, including helping workers navigate the unemployment insurance system and training programs, overseeing state-run retirement benefit programs, and working with companies to design more effective workers' compensation systems.

Use licensing and permitting so the market supports high-road firms and organizations

Use the power to license and permit businesses and construction projects to improve worker standards. For example, introducing expedited building permits for construction projects that treat their workers fairly—as done in Austin, Texas—can encourage employers to act in their workers' best interests. Governments can also increase licensing requirements for industries with a history of poor worker treatment in order to protect workers, as California has done with bond requirements in the car wash industry.

Lower barriers to joining worker organizations

Make it easier for workers to join worker organizations by providing opportunities for worker outreach and paying dues. For workers who are not covered by the NLRA, states should allow these workers to unionize and bargain collectively and should also more actively promote membership, such as by allowing worker organizations to provide information at worksites or training sessions. State and local governments can also enable workers to contribute voluntarily to nonunion worker organizations through payroll deductions.

Unpacking the 8 policy recommendations

Establish new industrywide standards with wage boards

Federal law allows states and cities to set minimum wages and other working standards above federal minimums and to use a variety of processes to set these standards. States—as well as local governments whose states have not taken away their ability to do so—can use this authority to move toward multiemployer bargaining by establishing wage boards or commissions that bring together workers, businesses, and the government to set minimum standards for industries and occupations. This process can complement and supplement high across-the-board minimum wages as well as traditional firm-level bargaining under the National Labor Relations Act.

These tripartite bodies would make their decisions on working standards based on economic and social factors such as productivity and the skill level of the work as well as fairness and regional cost of living. Industry standards—depending on the specifics of the industry—could be higher than the floor set by across-the-board minimums. The standards can also include a number of things beyond simply a minimum wage, including certain benefits, training, leave, and pay differentials for additional skills or experience. These bodies could even take pay and benefits found in labor contracts within a given industry or region into account to help determine appropriate standards.

Bringing together workers, businesses, and the government to set standards is not a new concept. In fact, the Fair Labor Standards Act originally included "industry committees" that could make recommendations for industry minimum wages to an administrator at the U.S. Department of Labor. ¹⁸ These committees were even required to consider existing collectively bargained contracts in the industry and the pay practices of high-road employers when making their decision. ¹⁹ Similar committees are still in use today at the state and local levels.

Several states—New York, California, and New Jersey—already have laws that enable the creation of these bodies through executive action, while other states and cities would need to pass legislation.²⁰ For example, California's Industrial Welfare Commission, which by statute includes two labor representatives, two employer representatives, and one member of the public, has issued orders that set standards for both specific industries and occupations.²¹ Similarly, New York used its wage board powers in 2015 to raise the minimum wage for employees in the fast food industry to \$15 per hour.²² Analogous commissions exist in other areas of law: States are required to establish medical care advisory committees—including health care professionals, consumer groups, and the public—to help set standards for state Medicaid agencies.²³

States that have wage boards should actively use them to their full potential. Cities and states that do not have them should create similar bodies that allow representatives from workers and employers to have their voices heard on statewide standards. Neighboring states could also join together to create regional standards for their workers.²⁴

At hearings called by these commissions, firms, employer associations, workers, and labor organizations would all be able to testify on what they feel should be included in any minimum standards. In order to encourage industries to organize themselves in a way conducive to multiemployer bargaining, preference could be given to the most representative employers' association and labor organization. These tripartite labor standard commissions could also be given the ability to require firms to disclose relevant information—such as current hours, wage rates, benefits, and profits—to the commission.

State and local governments can support and expand the work of tripartite commissions by promoting and funding joint labor-management committees that connect multiple firms in an industry or sector. For example, the Minnesota Area Labor-Management Committee Grant Program funds area or industry councils that improve labor-management relations in a given area or industry, such as the Labor-Users-Contractors Council, which brings together members of the construction industry to work on issues including safety, recruitment, and apprenticeship programs. ²⁶

Expanding bargaining rights for excluded workers

States have the ability to use these commissions to raise minimum wages and standards for all workers and move toward sectoral bargaining.²⁷ But for workers who are not covered by the NLRA—such as agricultural workers, domestic workers, public-sector workers, and independent contractors—cities and states can go much further toward the ideal multiemployer bargaining model.²⁸ As roughly one-fifth of private-sector workers are outside the NLRA, there could be significant room for improvement through this process.²⁹

For this subset of workers, cities and states should of course allow them to unionize and bargain collectively. California has done this with agricultural workers, for example, and a number of states have done so with independent home health care workers. ³⁰ Likewise, the city of Seattle has gotten in on the act by establishing a bargaining structure to allow for-hire drivers who are classified as independent contractors to collectively negotiate with their companies. ³¹ Some states even actively promote collective bargaining for these work-

ers—as, for example, California does with its Agricultural Labor Relations Board that requires mandatory mediation for collective bargaining agreements for agricultural workers.³² A few states even structure bargaining at the state level, rather than at the individual firm—Missouri has done this with home care workers funded by Medicaid.³³

Ideally, state and local governments would go further and promote regional or sectoral bargaining for all workers outside the NLRA. The model would be a tripartite commission similar to the wage boards described previously, but one that could incorporate more features of traditional collective bargaining. For example, commissions could require that workers vote for who represents them on the board; give the most representative worker organizations preferential access to board processes; allow workers to express their support or disapproval of the final decision; or even require direct negotiations between workers and firms while providing for arbitration of the final contract and extending the terms of the contract to firms that did not participate.

Support existing industrywide standards with prevailing wages

Millions of workers across the country work in jobs funded by state and local government spending such as contracts, grants, loans, and tax breaks.³⁴ State and local governments can use this spending to ensure that companies receiving public funds do not undercut industry-standard wages and benefits.

Many people are familiar with the efforts of the hundreds of cities—and the state of Maryland—that have established living wage laws for government-funded jobs. These laws effectively act as a high minimum wage for government-funded work. People may be less familiar with state and local governments' long-standing efforts to use government spending to support even higher standards across a region or industry. For 100 years, various American governments have used prevailing wage laws to do just that. Indeed, a majority of states have prevailing wage laws for at least some types of spending. The state of the hundreds of cities—and the state of the st

Prevailing wage laws require companies to pay wages and benefits that at least match existing compensation levels in the industry and region when working on government-funded projects. This helps standardize wages across an industry and ensures that government spending does not drive down market wages. These laws cannot ensure high standards in industries where there is only low-road competition. In industries where a number of high-road firms exist, however, prevailing wage laws can help support strong industrywide standards and can, at some level, function as a form of an extension law that supports sectoral bargaining.

Prevailing wage laws are most common for government-funded construction projects, but some cities and states have extended them to service contract workers as well.³⁷ In addition, a few have applied them to other forms of government spending such as grants, loans, and tax breaks.³⁸

States and local governments give up billions of dollars annually in economic development subsidies—most of which accrue to large businesses; new disclosures will help clarify just how much, but the scale may be as big as or bigger than direct government contracts.³⁹ State and local governments should apply prevailing wage laws to all forms of spending, including contracts, grants, loans, and tax subsidies. In addition to direct government spending, prevailing wage standards should be applied to the spending of quasi-government structures such as independent authorities and spending that occurs through public-private partnerships.

Additionally, state and municipal governments should determine the prevailing wage in a manner that supports or promotes collective bargaining, as a number of governments already do for some forms of spending. States such as New York and Maryland set prevailing wages based on the wage paid to a certain percentage of workers in an industry or locality. ⁴⁰ Jersey City, New Jersey, uses collectively bargained wages from the union contract that covers the most workers in a given classification for prevailing wages for building service workers, provided that the contract covers at least 200 workers. ⁴¹ Several states explicitly use collectively bargained rates, without regard for a set coverage threshold, to determine prevailing wages for public works projects. ⁴² Government can also bring firms and unions together to determine the prevailing wage, akin to the tripartite commission described earlier, as Indiana previously used. ⁴³

Not only can prevailing wage laws support high industry standards and foster collective bargaining—as collectively bargained wages can be effectively extended to other workplaces—but they also can help deliver good value to taxpayers.

Research indicates that prevailing wage laws lead to high-quality work at little to no additional cost to taxpayers. ⁴⁴ In sum, when state and local governments spend money, they should use prevailing wage laws.

Raise standards on government spending to improve results and support good jobs

State and local governments finance millions of jobs across our economy with the hundreds of billions of dollars that they spend each year on contracts, grants, loans, tax breaks, and economic development subsidies. Indeed, new reporting requirements will soon help clarify just how much governments spend on economic development subsidies.⁴⁵

Governments frequently attach standards to these funds—such as the prevailing wage standards described above or the numerous other ways outlined in CAP's 2015 "Contracting that Works" report, including rigorous screening of companies that receive government support. High standards should be imposed on all forms of government spending—including grants, loans, and tax breaks—by quasi-government structures such as independent authorities, not just the direct government contracts where they are most common. And critically, the standards on government spending should be crafted to ensure the highest-quality results for the government, which can often have the added benefit of supporting worker organizations.

When the government acts as a market participant by spending tax dollars on contracts, loans, and tax subsidies, courts often recognize that it has the ability to set a variety of requirements, including those that help ensure that labor unrest does not interfere with their projects. To further this goal, states and cities should, where appropriate, require their contractors and others who receive government funds to sign labor peace agreements with local unions that ensure that their workers will not strike and that, as employers, they will maintain neutrality on organizing efforts. These requirements have been used in Washington, D.C., for hotel development projects and in New York City for economic and housing development projects, among other places. State and local governments should also ensure that change or renewal of a contract—even a contract that the government is not a party to—is not used to lay off incumbent workers.

In addition, states and municipalities can go beyond mandates and provide preferences that support high-road employers. Giving preference to bidders who create high-quality American jobs and provide opportunities to underrepresented workers has been used successfully by many local transit agencies.⁵⁰ Governments have also used preferences, as well as requirements, for project labor agreements, where labor and management jointly prepare in advance a framework agreement for work on a particular project in order to ensure high-quality construction and benefit the community.⁵¹ Worker-owned firms also could be given preference in contracting.

Improve enforcement by partnering with worker organizations

Simply raising standards for workers is not enough. These standards must be enforced to be effective. Unfortunately, evidence suggests that violations of workplace standards are widespread. To take but one example: Wage theft through violations of minimum wage standards is estimated to cost U.S. workers between \$8 billion and \$14 billion annually.⁵²

State and local enforcement efforts are essential to adequately enforcing workplace standards. And enforcement of workplace standards requires close partnerships with worker organizations, presenting a critical opportunity for state and local governments to help support worker organization.

The U.S. Department of Labor can only enforce federal laws. This means, for example, that the Department of Labor can only enforce minimum wage violations where covered individuals are paid below \$7.25 per hour. Yet 29 states plus Washington, D.C., have set minimum wages above the federal level, as have a number of cities.⁵³ Similarly, a number of cities and states have prevailing wage laws, paid sick days, family leave, and fair scheduling requirements that the federal government does not enforce.

Even worse, the limited federal support for enforcement of state and local workplace standards—such as partnership between government agencies⁵⁴—is about to get much more limited. Under former President Barack Obama, the Department of Labor dramatically improved its enforcement efforts and strategically focused on industries where violations are most likely to occur.⁵⁵ Such targeted enforcement is important, as workplace-wide audits and investigations can take place without waiting for vulnerable workers, who often fear retaliation from private enforcement, to step forward. Under the Trump administration, it is far from certain that such an effective approach to assist low-wage workers will continue. Indeed, it is likely that federal enforcement will be gutted—as it was when George W. Bush was president, when accounts indicated that the Department of Labor simply ignored numerous reports of workplace violations. ⁵⁶ This means that state and local governments will have to redouble their efforts to protect workers from low-road employers that violate labor law and fail to pay their workers what they are rightfully owed.

But no matter how good or well-resourced state and local enforcement agencies are, they cannot do the job alone. Unfortunately, estimates show that there are fewer than 1,000 state investigators of wage and hour violations nationwide. Even if the number of investigators were doubled, it still would not be nearly enough for such a rampant problem.⁵⁷

To more effectively enforce the law, policymakers must include worker and community organizations in their enforcement efforts, as Janice Fine, associate professor of labor studies and employment relations at Rutgers University, and Jennifer Gordon, professor of law at Fordham University, have forcefully argued. Community and worker organizations—from unions, to worker centers, to religious organizations and other volunteer groups—are in contact with workers in more workplaces than government inspectors will ever be able to get to. Community and worker organizations can also serve as trusted intermediaries, bringing workers and government together and guiding workers through the process of ending labor violations in their workplace, which often involves real risks for workers who are justifiably afraid to go it alone. Indeed, some businesses have engaged in labor-management partnerships to help ensure that standards in their industries are adequately enforced.

The ideal co-enforcement model contains a number of elements. It starts with strong government leadership making clear that enforcement is a priority, whether through the bully pulpit or through litigation such as Alaska's successful effort to exclude some ride-sharing companies from the state until and unless these firms properly classify their drivers as employees under Alaska law. The model also includes a number of different kinds of support for worker and community organizations, including direct government funding for some of the enforcement activities done by worker and community groups; encouraging these organizations to benefit from enforcement lawsuits like private attorneys do; fees on businesses or contractors to support enforcement; and improving access to information and workplaces. Each of the enforcement and workplaces.

Several cities have joined a number of states and are beginning to carry out elements of this model. For example, San Francisco and Seattle have implemented community enforcement programs, providing grants to community organizations that help enforce workplace standards, and other cities are following suit. Granizations can use these grants to educate workers about their rights; attempt to informally solve disputes directly with employers; and refer victims to the appropriate enforcement agency, guiding workers through the legal process. Other cities and states could follow their example. States can also help provide additional funding for these local co-enforcement efforts, akin to the federal Wage Theft Prevention and Wage Recovery Grant Program proposed by Sen. Patty Murray (D-WA) and Rep. Rosa DeLauro (D-CT), which would provide \$50 million in federal grants to local entities to help enforce wage and hours law.

State and local governments can also ensure that workers can go to court to enforce the law if that is the route they choose. 65 Good policy helps ensure that private citizens and their attorneys have the tools necessary to bring companies that violate the law to court and win judgments that benefit workers as well as sustain the lawyers and the worker organizations that work with them. Some states, such as Maryland and Illinois, have laws that allow for certain misclassified workers to privately enforce their rights through the courts. 66 In addition, some states, following the American Bar Association's model rule on ethics, allow attorneys who successfully enforce workers' rights in court to support nonprofit organizations who refer those cases financially.⁶⁷ And California has taken several actions to empower workers in the courtroom. Under California law, contracting companies are held jointly liable for wage and hour violations committed by labor contractors.⁶⁸ And through its Private Attorneys General Act, California allows workers to sue over labor code violations and share in the civil penalties awarded to the state.⁶⁹ Finally, for workers not covered by the NLRA, states can make labor organizing a civil right and ensure that workers have a right to go to court to enforce violations of their right to join together.⁷⁰

Sadly, wage theft is common enough that grants to community organizations and private litigation—which can face barriers such as mandatory arbitration clauses, class action difficulties, and fear of retaliation—may not be the right strategy for all violations or be able to reach enough workers. As a result, policymakers may want to go even further to ensure that workers are paid what they are rightfully owed.

Matthew W. Finkin, University of Illinois law professor, has proposed a major new reform to allow workers to designate a "wage-checker," who would have rights to payroll records related to workers' wages and hours and improved access to workers in the workplace.⁷¹ This type of concept has a long historical precedent: Coal miners in many states were and still are in some cases protected by "check weighmen laws," which allow miners to select a third party to check the scales when coal is weighed before payment.⁷² These laws could be updated and expanded.

Promote high-quality training through labormanagement partnerships and worker organizations

State and municipal governments are increasingly prioritizing career and technical education programs that prepare workers for in-state jobs because there is a growing demand for workers with so-called middle-skill credentials, between a high school diploma and four-year college degree. This need to increase worker training for these and other positions provides a major opportunity for states and municipalities to work with industry groups and worker organizations to encourage and expand training.

By including representatives of workers and businesses in their plans, government programs and funding can be directed to areas in which training is most needed and to jobs where workers fully share in the benefits of training. Research shows that involving worker organizations can help workers receive more training and that this training leads to jobs with higher pay.⁷⁴ Workers are also more likely to complete training programs when worker organizations are involved.⁷⁵ Furthermore, training programs achieve better outcomes when they are implemented industrywide or sectorwide, with a coalition of employers, so that workers gain skills that are generally valued in the economy rather than only by one particular employer.⁷⁶

The basic model calls for strongly encouraging high-quality, sectoral training through either requirements or financial support—and then ensuring that training is delivered in partnership with worker organizations, often with employers. In order to broadly promote this training, employers and their workers can work together at the industry or area level through labor management committees.⁷⁷

The state of Washington provides one example of how training requirements can be used to improve the quality of state services and build worker power.

Over recent decades, the state of Washington has worked to move Medicaidfinanced long-term care from nursing homes to in-home and community-based care, allowing seniors and people with disabilities to continue to live in their homes. During this transition, the state worked to ensure that caregivers in the home had appropriate training.⁷⁸

Washington voters passed a state initiative in 2001 that gave home care workers the right to organize. Their new union, Service Employees International Union, or SEIU, 775, has been a crucial partner in advocating for and providing training for workers that allows them to properly care for their patients. Understanding the importance of high standards for home care workers, Washington voters passed two additional state initiatives to expand training requirements. Home care workers must now complete 75 hours of training to be certified as a home care aide, with ongoing continuing education requirements.⁷⁹

This training is provided by the SEIU Healthcare NW Training Partnership, which is a product of a joint labor-management partnership, including SEIU 775, the state of Washington, and private employers. This partnership allows the training to be focused more precisely to best help patients, workers, and employers. The cost of training is covered by employer contributions for union members, though the training is open to all. The program has rapidly grown and now serves more than 45,000 workers per year.80 The partnership is now expanding to include additional pathways beyond basic training, including registered apprenticeships for more advanced caregiving and management as well as building credentials to move to fields such as nursing.⁸¹

This restructuring of the caregiving industry has led not only to building a more professionalized workforce, with accompanying increased pay for workers, but also to increased quality of care in the state. Washington ranks among the highest states for quality of long-term services and supports. 82 New York state has had similar success with family child care providers, where the workers' union helps ensure adherence to quality standards by providing training and technical assistance.⁸³

Another way that states and local governments can encourage high-quality worker training is through their funding. When state and local governments are spending money on training, they should encourage that training be done by labor-management partnerships or worker organizations that are sector-based.

This kind of policy has most frequently been done with apprenticeships but could apply to other kinds of workforce education and training. Apprenticeships are a successful form of worker training that is underutilized in the United States. With an apprenticeship, a worker is generally paid for his or her time in training, receives a valuable credential that is accepted across an industry, and is generally retained by his or her employer after completing the program.

States should begin to invest or increase their investment in programs to encourage employers to operate apprenticeship programs, including with Workforce Innovation and Opportunity Act funds, additional federal grants, and state training dollars. Politicians of both parties appreciate the value of state funding for apprenticeship. For example, Gov. Terry Branstad (R-IA) and Gov. Dannel Malloy (D-CT) have both increased grants for apprenticeship in recent years. When considering grant applications, states should preference apprenticeship programs that involve joint labor-management partnerships, as union involvement has been shown to increase the quality of training. S

As well as supporting existing labor-management partnerships or sectoral worker organizations, states could use grants to seed-fund new ones. For example, the Pennsylvania Department of Labor & Industry provides grants to industry partnerships that extend across multiple employers and worker organizations in a given industry and area. These grants are used to improve training across the industry. ⁸⁶ Companies are required to show how the partnership will be sustainable once grant funds are exhausted.

States and local governments can also institute a requirement that government spending is put toward projects that use apprenticeships. ⁸⁷ In Alaska, for example, construction contractors on projects of more than \$2.5 million are required to use apprentices for 15 percent of the work, and the city of Juneau has used project labor agreements to establish apprenticeship utilization requirements ranging from 15 percent to 20 percent for locally funded construction projects. ⁸⁸ Such utilization requirements are also found in the state of Washington at the statewide and municipal levels. ⁸⁹ Chicago uses a system where contractors that use union apprentices from a city training program receive a preference on future bids. ⁹⁰ Each of these strategies shares a common goal: making sure that government funds are used in a way that trains a high-skilled workforce and provides a pathway for workers to enter middle-class jobs.

Use worker organizations to improve workplace benefits

State and local governments can also allow worker organizations to assist in the provision of new or existing workplace benefits—such as unemployment insurance, retirement, and workers' compensation. This will both increase the effectiveness of government programs and allow workers to build relationships with worker organizations. Giving worker organizations a formal role in implementing certain government programs has been successful for decades in places including Denmark and Belgium. 91 Since worker organizations can use relationships built through the program to recruit members, countries with systems such as this have relatively high and stable union membership. 92 Belgium, for example, has actually seen a slight increase in union membership over recent decades. 93 Although having a nonprofit organization work to improve government service delivery may seem foreign, it is already used in some instances in America, as the training and enforcement programs described earlier make clear. But there are many more examples: For example, the U.S. Department of State authorizes AAA to provide international driving permits. 94 Additionally, the government pays a variety of consumer advocate organizations to assist Americans enrolling in plans through the Health Insurance Marketplace or approaching other parts of the Affordable Care Act. 95

This concept could be applied to workplace benefits. For example, an estimated one-quarter to one-half of workers who are eligible for unemployment insurance do not actually use their available benefit. As union members are more likely to apply for unemployment insurance, it is likely that increased help from worker organizations in navigating the system would increase benefit take-up. This would both help families who face bouts of unemployment and boost the stabilizing effect of unemployment insurance on the economy. And since states have broad authority to design their unemployment insurance programs, it is possible to grant worker organizations a role in the process. Unions could also be engaged in helping match workers with employers or career coaching.

This model could also be used to improve the delivery of new state retirement plans for workers whose employers do not offer plans or who do not have a traditional employer. ¹⁰⁰ Including worker organizations in plan oversight—as practiced by federal government employees' retirement plan, the Thrift Savings Plan—makes sure that plans are designed to serve workers' best interests. Further, deciding how much to save, as well as when and how to withdraw money in retirement, is complicated; worker organizations can help individuals make those decisions.

Somewhat analogously, some states have done similar things with their workers' compensation programs. States including New York, Minnesota, and California allow unions and firms to bargain over alternative dispute resolution procedures for workers' compensation that meet certain criteria. ¹⁰¹ This ensures that workers get needed benefits but also encourages that the program is designed in a way that best fits the specific needs of firms and workers in an industry. ¹⁰²

Use licensing and permitting so the market supports high-road firms and organizations

Industries structured in certain ways—such as with lots of low-road, undercapitalized, transient businesses or those where there is a lack of competition, giving firms more power to set wages unilaterally—make it hard for workers to build organization or bargain collectively. Other kinds of industries, such as those characterized by well-capitalized firms investing in their long-run success, are more conducive to building worker voice and power. Government licensing and permitting can play a key role in structuring the market in an industry and help determine whether workers are able to build power. Critically, cities often have greater freedom to license and permit.

For example, the San Francisco Department of Public Health recognizes a connection between wage theft and public health and has the authority to suspend or revoke health permits for restaurants that have been found by wage enforcement agencies to have violated the law. California and several West Coast cities have also pursued a requirement model. The city of Los Angeles recently passed an initiative to require training standards, as well as labor and wage regulations on development projects requiring zoning changes. Similarly, Los Angeles requires waste removal firms, which are granted an exclusive franchise for a specific zone of the city, to agree to labor peace agreements. The state of California addressed problems of wage theft in the car wash industry—where the transient nature of businesses made it difficult for workers to collect on claims—by requiring car wash owners to post a surety bond so that funds are available to settle wage theft claims.

Licensing requirements can be used to protect workers from more than just wage theft. Workers in the hotel and janitorial industry are often subject to unsafe working environments and sexual harassment. To address this problem, Seattle voters approved Initiative 124 in November 2016, which sets safety requirements, work requirements, and minimum benefit supplements for hotel workers, as well as requires right of first refusal for current staff when management changes. Under a new law in California, janitorial employers must be licensed, and both employees and their employers will be required to attend in-person sexual harassment training sessions. State agencies are working with employers, unions, and sexual assault victim advocacy groups to develop the training requirement. Similarly, states can also seek to promote worker power as they address the impact of anti-competitive industries on workers and fight against practices that limit worker power, such as noncompete clauses.

In a different, incentive-based model, Austin, Texas, is currently developing a voluntary expedited permitting program that allows certified real estate developers to receive quicker building permits. ¹¹¹ Developers certified by the Better Builder program must ensure that their subcontractors pay living wages and provide safe workplaces, among other requirements. The certification program was developed by a worker organization and is already in use by a number of companies, project owners, and real estate developers. ¹¹² By linking expedited permitting to use of Better Builder or similar certification, the city of Austin can help raise standards as well as provide an opportunity for responsible businesses to benefit.

Lower barriers to joining worker organizations

There are a variety of steps that state and local governments can take to remove barriers that can prevent workers from joining worker organizations, and they can even help provide nudges or incentives to make membership easier to obtain.

For workers who are not covered by the NLRA, states should explicitly allow these workers to unionize. As California has done for agricultural workers, for example, Washington and many other states have done for home care workers and New York has done for home-based child care providers.¹¹³

Workers can have difficulty receiving information about worker organizations. Thus, a simple, additional role for governments to play is to minimize barriers to information. One of the key ways to do this is to allow worker organizations to provide information at the worksite—something that state and local governments can clearly do for workers not covered by the NLRA. In California, for example, unions have the right to give presentations at home health workers' orientation sessions. ¹¹⁴ This concept could be expanded in other states to allow worker organizations to present information at trainings that are required by the state for licensing.

In places where unions are not present, workers should be able to support non-profit organizations, including but not limited to those organizations whose mission is to educate and advocate to protect the rights of workers. Governments can allow employees to choose to have contributions deducted from their paycheck, just as they can put money toward their retirement account or health insurance premiums. Federal employees already have a similar program: The Combined Federal Campaign allows them to easily contribute to nonprofit organizations. These types of mechanisms forward the crucial goal in democracy of citizen participation in civic society.

Conclusion

Today's economy is broken. While the American economy is growing, many workers are not seeing their fair share of the growth. Instead, the wealthy few are bringing home a near-record share of the national income. As a result, these rich individuals are gaining more and more political power that can be used to further policies that help themselves at the expense of working- and middle-class Americans, creating great instability in our democracy.

Policymakers must act to restore balance to our economy and political system. Working people must have a greater say in the workplace and our democracy. Building a labor relations system as outlined in CAP's "The Future of Worker Voice and Power," would help achieve that goal.¹¹⁵

While fully implementing this vision will require federal legislation, policymakers at the state and local levels can take major steps toward this progressive agenda. This report provides a variety of policy options that state and local governments can use to move toward this better system. These policies would serve to raise workers' wages and increase their power in the marketplace and political realm. By adopting any number of these options, policymakers can help rebalance our economy and ensure that more workers share in its growth.

About the authors

David Madland is a Senior Fellow and the Senior Advisor to the American Worker Project at the Center for American Progress Action Fund. He has written extensively about the economy and American politics on a range of topics, including the middle class, economic inequality, retirement policy, labor unions, and workplace standards such as the minimum wage. His book, Hollowed Out: Why the Economy Doesn't Work without a Strong Middle Class, was published by the University of California Press in July 2015. Madland has a doctorate in government from Georgetown University and received his bachelor's degree from the University of California, Berkeley.

Alex Rowell is a Research Associate with the Economic Policy team at the Action Fund. He holds a bachelor's degree from the University of Georgia, where he studied economics, political science, and international affairs.

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank the numerous people who provided input that improved this report, including: Karla Walter; Angela Hanks; Erin Cohan; Sundus Alfi; Kate Andrias; Craig Becker; Nicole Berner; Zack Fields; Janice Fine; Jose Garza; Stephen Herzenberg; Arun Ivatury; Ken Jacobs; Samuel Krinsky; Wilma Liebman; Kevin Reilly; Joel Rogers; David Rolf; Catherine Ruckelshaus; Judy Scott; Damon Silvers; Amy Sugimori; and Chris Williams. We relied on their advice and insights, though the final report is not necessarily reflective of their opinions. All mistakes are our own.

Endnotes

- 1 Authors' analysis using updated 2015 data from Thomas Piketty and Emmanuel Saez, "Income Inequality in the United States, 1913-1998," The Quarterly Journal of Economics 118 (1) (2003), available at http:// eml.berkeley.edu/~saez/TabFig2015prel.xls. Income levels and fractiles are inclusive of capital gains.
- 2 Lawrence Mishel and Jessica Schieder, "Stock market headwinds meant less generous year for some CEOs' (Washington: Economic Policy Institute, 2016), available at http://www.epi.org/publication/ceo-and-workerpay-in-2015/.
- 3 David Madland, Hollowed Out: Why the Economy Doesn't Work without a Strong Middle Class (Oakland, CA: University of California Press, 2015).
- 4 David Madland and Alex Rowell, "Unions Help the Middle Class, No Matter the Measure" (Washington: Center for American Progress Action Fund, 2016), available at https://www.americanprogressaction.org/ issues/economy/reports/2016/06/09/139074/unionshelp-the-middle-class-no-matter-the-measure/.
- 5 Bruce Western and Jake Rosenfeld, "Unions, Norms, and the Rise in U.S. Wage Inequality," American Sociological Review 76 (4) (2011): 513-537.
- 6 David Madland and Nick Bunker, "Unions Make Democracy Work for the Middle Class" (Washington: Center for American Progress Action Fund, 2012), available at https://www.americanprogressaction.org/ issues/economy/reports/2012/01/25/10913/unionsmake-democracy-work-for-the-middle-class/; Jasmine Kerrissey and Evan Schofer, "Union Membership and Political Participation in the United States," Social Forces 91 (3) (2013): 895-928; Jonathan E. Booth, Daniela Lup, and Mark Williams, "Union Membership and Charitable Giving in the United States," ILR Review (2016), online prepublication, available at http://journals.sagepub. com/doi/abs/10.1177/0019793916677595.
- 7 David Madland, "Workers Don't Need Trump to Give Them A Voice. They Need Unions," Talk Poverty, November 18, 2016, available at https://talkpoverty. org/2016/11/18/workers-dont-need-trump-give-voiceneed-unions/.
- 8 Richard B. Freeman, "What Do Unions Do?: The 2004 M-Brane Stringtwister Edition." Working Paper 11410 (National Bureau of Economic Research, 2005), available at http://www.law.harvard.edu/programs/lwp/2005June. pdf; Kate Bronfenbrenner, "No Holds Barred: The Intensification of Employer Opposition to Organizing (Washington: Economic Policy Institute, 2009), available at http://www.epi.org/files/page/-/pdf/bp235. pdf; Ellen Dannin and Ann C Hodges, "Strike and You're Out: The Supreme Court's Destruction of the Right to Strike," Truthout, April 25, 2013, available at http://www. truth-out.org/news/item/15913-strike-and-youre-outthe-supreme-courts-destruction-of-the-right-to-strike.
- 9 David Weil, Fissured Workplace: Why Work Became So Bad for So Many and What Can Be Done to Improve It (Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press, 2014); Mark Barenberg, "Widening the Scope of Worker Organizing" (New York: Roosevelt Institute, 2015), available at http://rooseveltinstitute.org/widening-scope-workerorganizing/.
- 10 Bureau of Labor Statistics, "Union Members Summary," Press release, January 26, 2017, available at https:// www.bls.gov/news.release/union2.nr0.htm.

- 11 Kate Andrias, "The New Labor Law," The Yale Law Journal 126 (1) (2016), available at http://www.yalelawjournal. org/article/the-new-labor-law; Barenberg, "Widening the Scope of Worker Organizing"; Brishen Rogers, "Libertarian Corporatism is Not an Oxymoron," Texas Law Review (forthcoming), available at http://www.texaslrev.com/ libertarian-corporatism-is-not-an-oxymoron/; David Rolf, "Toward a 21st-Century Labor Movement," The American Prospect, April 18, 2016, available at http://prospect. org/article/toward-21st-century-labor-movement; Howard Wial, "The Emerging Organizational Structure of Unionism in Low Wage Services," Rutgers Law Review 45 (3) (1993): 671-738; Matthew Dimick, "Productive Unionism," UC Irvine Law Review 4 (2014): 679-724.
- 12 David Madland, "The Future of Worker Voice and Power" (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2016), available at https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/ economy/report/2016/10/11/143072/the-future-ofworker-voice-and-power/.
- 13 For a general review of the research on the employer and economic benefits, see ibid. For some case studies, see Ronda Sauget and Mary Finkelstein, "Project Labor Agreements (PLAs) and Tripartite Approach Model for Construction Project Management Success" (Collinsville, IL: Southwestern Illinois Building Trades Council, 2015), available at http://www.swilbuildingtrades.com/ pdf/PLAs_TAM_overall%20%281%29.pdf.
- 14 State and local lawmakers are restricted in the actions they can take to regulate collective bargaining due to extraordinarily broad federal pre-emption of labor law. Despite the fact that the National Labor Relations Act does not include an explicit pre-emption clause, over the decades since the NLRA was passed, courts have established that cities and states face major limits on labor policy. Through "Garmon preemption," states are not permitted to regulate activity arguably permitted or prohibited by the NLRA. And through "Machinists preemption," states are prohibited from regulating labor activity that is not regulated by the act. See Cynthina Estlund, "The Ossification of American Labor Law," Columbia Law Review 102 (6) (2002): 1527-1612; International Association of Machinists and Aerospace Workers v. Wisconsin Employment Relations Commission 427 U.S. 132 (1976); San Diego Building Trades Council v. Garmon 353 U.S. 26 (1957).
- 15 See Andrias, "The New Labor Law," p. 89-92.
- 16 Unfortunately, many states—23 as of January 31, 2017 have passed laws that explicitly ban cities from passing local minimum wage laws. Similarly, some states prohibit cities from establishing minimum benefit or leave requirements for local workers. These laws are part of a coordinated effort from the American Legislative Exchange Council to oppose raising minimum standards for workers. These pre-emption laws would need to be repealed in order for local officials in these states to use wage and benefit boards to raise worker standards. See National Employment Law Project, "Fighting Preemption: The Movement for Higher Wages Must Oppose State Efforts to Block Local Minimum Wage Laws" (2017), available at http://www.nelp.org/publication/fighting-preemptionlocal-minimum-wage-laws/; National Partnership for Women & Families, "Paid Sick Days Preemption Bills (Current Session)," available at http://www.nationalpartnership.org/issues/work-family/preemption-map.html (last accessed February 2017); GovDocs, "States with Laws Preempting City and County Labor Laws," available at https://system.netsuite.com/core/media/media.nl?id=16 74492&c=653988&h=5505a59edf4ee0f74100& xt=.pdf (last accessed February 2017); The Center for Media and Democracy's PR Watch, "ALEC's 2016 Agenda Moving in the States: A Snapshot," available at http://www.prwatch. org/news/2016/05/13099/alec's-2016-agenda-snapshot (last accessed February 2017).

- 17 Note that the federal government regulates employerprovided benefit plans through the Employee Retirement Income Security Act, or ERISA. With exceptions to allow for insurance, banking, and securities regulation. ERISA pre-empts state and local laws related to certain employee benefit plans. However, states and municipalities can still regulate some benefits. For example, states have been creating retirement programs requiring companies that do not offer employer retirement plans to automatically enroll employees in payroll deduction individual retirement accounts. Furthermore, ERISA pre-emption does not apply to state and local laws that establish requirements for paid sick, family, or medical leave. See Employee Benefits Security Administration, "Savings Arrangements Established by States for Non-Governmental Employees," 81 FR 59464, August 30, 2016, available at https://www.federalregister.gov/documents/2016/08/30/2016-20639/ savings-arrangements-established-by-states-for-nongovernmental-employees.
- 18 Andrias, "The New Labor Law"; 29 U.S.C. 208 (c) (1940). Note that the Fair Labor Standards Act limited the range of minimum wages that could be implemented by the committees and wage orders.
- 19 The industry committee and administrator were required to consider, among other factors, "the wages established for work of like or comparable character by collective labor agreements negotiated between employers and employees by representatives of their own choosing" and "the wages paid for work of like or comparable character by employers who voluntarily maintain minimum-wage standards in the industry." 29 U.S.C. 208 (c) (1940).
- 20. NJ Rev Stat § 34:11-56a8 (2016), available at http://law justia.com/codes/new-jersey/2016/title-34/section-34-11-56a8/; CA Labor Code § 70-74 (2016), available at http://law.justia.com/codes/california/2016/codelab/division-1/chapter-2/; New York Labor Law § 655 (2016), available at http://law.justia.com/codes/newyork/2016/lab/article-19/655/.
- 21 Note that while this commission was defunded in 2004, its orders are still active, CA Labor Code § 70-74: California Department of Industrial Relations, available at http://www.dir.ca.gov/iwc/wageorderindustriesprior. htm (last accessed February 2017).
- 22 New York State Department of Labor, "Fast Food Wage Board," available at http://labor.ny.gov/workerpro $tection/laborst and ards/wageboard 2015. shtm \ (last$ accessed February 2017).
- 23 42 CFR 431.12 (2011), available at https://www.gpo. gov/fdsys/granule/CFR-2011-title42-vol4/CFR-2011-title42-vol4-sec431-12/content-detail.html.
- 24 See The Council of State Governments, "INTRODUC-TION/OVERVIEW: INTERSTATE COMPACTS," available at http://www.csg.org/knowledgecenter/docs/ncic/ Overview.pdf (last accessed February 2017).
- 25 Minnesota Bureau of Mediation Services, "Minnesota Area Labor-Management Committee Grant Program," available at https://mn.gov/bms/assets/ FY2016GrantApplication_tcm1075-216771.pdf (last accessed February 2017).
- 26 Minnesota Bureau of Mediation Services, "Area/Industry Councils," available at https://mn.gov/bms/labormgmt/ councils/ (last accessed February 2017).
- 27 See Andrias, "The New Labor Law," p. IV.A.2.

- 28 Note that local government authority to regulate independent contractors may vary by state and sector.
- 29 Government Accountability Office, "Collective Bargaining Rights: Information on the Number of Workers with and without Bargaining Rights," GAO-02-835, Report to Congressional Requesters, U.S. Senate, September 2002, available at http://www.gao.gov/new.items/ d02835.pdf.
- 30 California Agricultural Labor Relations Act, Cal Labor Code § 1140-1166.3 (2012), available at https://www. alrb.ca.gov/content/pdfs/statutesregulations/statutes/ ALRA_010112.pdf; Leigh Anne Schriever, "The Home Health Care Industry's Organizing Nightmare," The Century Foundation, August 18, 2015, available at https:// tcf.org/content/commentary/the-home-health-careindustrys-organizing-nightmare/.
- 31 Giving Drivers a Voice, "Council Unanimously Adopts First-of-its-Kind Legislation to Give Drivers a Voice on the Job," Press release, December 14, 2015, available at http://www.seattle.gov/council/issues/giving-driversa-voice.
- 32 ALRB Regulations C.C.R. § 20100 et. seq. (2014), available at https://www.alrb.ca.gov/content/pdfs/statutesregulations/regulations/Regulations20140423.pdf.
- 33 Missouri Boards & Commissions, "Missouri Quality Home Care Council," available at https://boards.mo.gov/ userpages/Board.aspx?158 (last accessed August 2016).
- 34 Karla Walter and others, "Contracting that Works" (Washington: Center for American Progress Action Fund, 2015), available at https://www. american progress action.org/issues/economy/reports/2015/11/13/125359/contracting-that-works-2/.
- 35 National Employment Law Project, "Local Living Wage Laws and Coverage," available at http://www.nelp.org/ content/uploads/2015/03/LocalLWLawsCoverageFl-NAL.pdf?nocdn=1 (last accessed February 2017).
- 36 U.S. Department of Labor Wage and Hour Division, "Dollar Threshold Amount for Contract Coverage Under State Prevailing Wage Laws," available at https://www. dol.gov/whd/state/dollar.htm (last accessed February
- 37 Conn. Gen. Stat. Ann. § 31-57(f) (2015) (prevailing wage for certain service occupations); N.J. Stat. Ann. 34:11-56.58 (2016) (prevailing wage for building service employees); New York City Admin Code § 6-130*2 (2017) (prevailing wage for certain service occupations); N.Y. Lab. Law § 230-239A (2016) (prevailing wage for building service employees).
- 38 California Labor Code Division 2, Part 7, available at http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displayText.xhtml?lawCode=LAB&division=2.&title =&part=7.&chapter=1.&article=1; Pittsburgh, Pa. Code § 161.40 (City of Pittsburgh Service Worker Prevailing Wage Ordinance) (2015), available at http://pittsburgh.legistar.com/LegislationDetail. aspx?ID=644162&GUID=4600AAD3-EFA3-465A-A5D6-C57C9BDE75D2&Options=ID|Text|&Search=prevailing.
- 39 Greg Leroy and others, "Shortchanging Small Business: How Big Businesses Dominate State Economic Development Incentives" (Washington: Good Jobs First, 2015), available at http://www.goodjobsfirst.org/sites/ default/files/docs/pdf/shortchanging.pdf; Governmental Accounting Standards Board, "Tax Abatement Disclosures" (2015), available at http://gasb.org/jsp/ GASB/Document_C/GASBDocumentPage?cid=117616 6283745&acceptedDisclaimer=true.

- 40 New York Labor Law § 220 (2016), available at http://law.justia.com/codes/new-york/2016/lab/article-8/220/; Code of Maryland Regulations 21.11.11.03 (2017), available at http://www.dsd.state.md.us/comar/ comarhtml/21/21.11.11.03.htm.
- 41 Jersey City, New Jersey § 3-76 (2016), available at https://www.municode.com/library/nj/jersey_city/ codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=CH3ADGO_ARTX-DEHOECDECO_S3-76DIECDE.
- 42 Ohio Chapter 4115 (2016), available at http://law.justia. com/codes/ohio/2016/title-41/chapter-4115/; Michigan Department of Licensing and Regulatory Affairs, "Prevailing Wage," available at http://www.michigan. gov/lara/0,4601,7-154-59886_27706-39650--,00.html (last accessed February 2017); New Jersey Department of Labor and Workforce Development, "Prevailing Wage Rate Determinations," available at http://lwd.state.nj.us/ labor/wagehour/wagerate/prevailing_wage_determinations.html (last accessed February 2017); Massachusetts General Law 149 § 26, available at http://www. malegislature.gov/Laws/GeneralLaws/PartI/TitleXXI/ Chapter149/Section26.
- 43 Indiana Department of Labor, "Understanding Indiana's Common Construction Wage Act" (2013), available at http://www.in.gov/dol/files/CCW_Guide_2013_Complete.pdf.
- 44 Hamid Azari-Rad, Peter Philips, and Mark J. Prus, "State Prevailing Wage Laws and School Construction Costs," Industrial Relations 42 (3) (2003): 445-457; Michael P. Kelsay, "The Adverse Economic Impact from Repeal of the Prevailing Wage Law in West Virginia" (2015), available at http://www.faircontracting.org/wp-content/ uploads/2015/01/The-Adverse-Economic-Impactfrom-Repeal-of-the-PW-Law-in-WV-Dr.-Michael-Kelsay-Full-Report.pdf; Kevin Duncan and Frank Manzo IV, "The Economic, Fiscal, and Social Effects of Kentucky's Prevailing Wage Law" (2016), available at http://www. faircontracting.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/12/kentucky-report-duncan-and-manzo-2016-final.pdf; Kevin Duncan, "The Wage Differential Method: Promising Construction Costs Savings with the Repeal or Weakening of Prevailing Wage Laws that Cannot be Delivered" (2016), available at http://www.faircontracting.org/wpcontent/uploads/2012/08/Wage-differential-methodcritique-Duncan-2016-1.pdf.
- 45 Good Jobs First blog, "It is late 2016: Do you know where your state is on GASB 77 corporate welfare data?", available at http://www.goodjobsfirst.org/blog/it-late-2016-do-you-know-where-your-state-gasb-77-corporate-welfare-data (last accessed February 2017).
- 46 Walter and others, "Contracting that Works."
- 47 When acting as a market participant, a state or local government is able to choose its labor policies like a typical private party, so long as the policies are targeted at protecting the government's proprietary interest. Note that courts have varied in how to distinguish between governments acting as market participants and governments acting as regulators. See Benjamin Sachs, 'Despite Preemption: Making Labor Law in Cities and States," Harvard Law Review (124) (2011): 1153-1224; Cynthia L. Estlund, "The Ossification of American Labor Law." Columbia Law Review 102 (6) (2002): 1527-1612. See also Building and Construction Trades Council v. Associated Builders, 507 U.S. 218 (1993): Chamber of Commerce of the U.S. v. Brown, 554 U.S. 60 (2008).
- 48 Code of District of Columbia Chapter 8A (2016), available at https://beta.code.dccouncil.us/dc/council/code/ titles/32/chapters/8A/; NYC Exec. Order No. 19 (July 14, 2016), available at http://www1.nvc.gov/assets/home/ downloads/pdf/executive-orders/2016/eo_19.pdf.

- 49 For a detailed discussion of displaced worker protection laws, see Jessica Harris, "Displaced Worker Protection Laws: An Explainer," On Labor, January 13, 2014, available at https://onlabor.org/2014/01/13/displacedworker-protection-laws-an-explainer/. Example laws include California's Displaced Janitor Opportunity Act, CA Labor Code § 1060-1065 (2016), available at http://law. justia.com/codes/california/2016/code-lab/division-2/ part-3/chapter-4.5/; City of St Louis Displaced Building Service Workers Protection Ordinance, Ordinance #67423 (2007), available at https://www.stlouis-mo. gov/government/city-laws/ordinances/ordinance. cfm?ord=67423.
- 50 Alaa Milbes, "UPDATE: US Dept of Transportation Secretary Foxx to Transit officials: Maximize Impact of \$305 Billion FAST Act to Create U.S. Jobs," Jobs to Move America, February 26, 2016, available at http://jobstomoveamerica.org/update-us-dept-of-transportationsecretary-foxx-to-transit-officials/.
- 51 Jared Bernstein, "Project Labor Agreements: A Better Deal for All," The White House Blog, April 12, 2010, available at https://obamawhitehouse.archives.gov/ blog/2010/04/12/project-labor-agreements-a-betterdeal-all; Art Jujan, Lyle A. Balistreri, and Loree K. Soggs, "Community Workforce Agreements: Pathway to Career Opportunities" (Boston: Jobs for the Future, 2013), available at http://www.jff.org/sites/default/files/publications/CommunityWorkforceAgreements_030413.pdf.
- 52 Ross Eisenbrey, "Wage Theft by Employers is Costing U.S. Workers Billions of Dollars a Year," Working Economics Blog, February 13, 2015, available at http://www. epi.org/blog/wage-theft-by-employers-is-costing-u-sworkers-billions-of-dollars-a-year/.
- 53 Economic Policy Institute, "The Economic Policy Institute Minimum Wage Tracker," available at http:// www.epi.org/minimum-wage-tracker/ (last accessed
- 54 See, for example, U.S. Department of Labor, "Wage and Hour Division (WHD)," available at https://www.dol.gov/ whd/workers/misclassification/stateinfo-nois.htm (last accessed February 2017).
- 55 David Weil, "Strategic Enforcement to Maximize Impact," U.S. Department of Labor Blog via WayBack Machine, October 31, 2014, available at https://blog.dol. gov/2014/10/31/strategic-enforcement-to-maximizeimpact/ (last accessed December 2016). This page was last accessed February 2017. It is no longer available on the Department of Labor's blog.
- 56 Gregory D. Kutz and Jonathan T. Meyer, "Wage and Hour Division's Complaint Intake and Investigative Processes Leave Low Wage Workers Vulnerable to Wage Theft," GAO-09-458T, Testimony before the Committee on Education and Labor, House of Representatives. March 2009, available at http://www.gao.gov/assets/130/122107.pdf.
- 57 National Employment Law Project, "Winning Wage Justice: An Advocate's Guide to State and City Policies to Fight Wage Theft" (2011), available at http://www. nelp.org/content/uploads/2015/03/WinningWageJustice2011.pdf.
- 58 Janice Fine and Jennifer Gordon, "Strengthening Labor Standards Enforcement through Partnerships with Workers' Organizations," Politics & Society 38 (4) (2010): 552-585; Janice Fine, "Co-Production: Bringing Together the Unique Capabilities of Government and Society for Stronger Labor Standards Enforcement" (Northampton, MA: The LIFT Fund, 2015), available at http://theliftfund.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/09/ LIFTReportCoproductionOct_ExecSumm-rf_4.pdf.

- 59 The involvement of community organizations can result in successful settlements that improve employees' working standards, including workplace committees to monitor ongoing compliance. See Alex T. Tom, "Immigrant Workers Transform their Workplace and Win \$4 Million Settlement," Chinese Progressive Organization, available at http://www.cpasf.org/announcement/ settlement-yanksing (last accessed February 2017).
- 60 Catherine K. Ruckelshaus, "Labor's Wage War," Fordham Urban Law Journal 35 (2) (2007): 373-407.
- 61 KTVA CBS 11 News, "Uber signs agreement to stop operating, pay settlement to Alaska," KTVA Alaska, September 3, 2015, available at http://www.ktva.com/ uber-signs-agreement-to-stop-operating-pay-settlement-to-alaska-808/.
- 62 Fine and Gordon, "Strengthening Labor Standards Enforcement through Partnerships with Workers' Organizations"; Fine, "Co-Production: Bringing Together the Unique Capabilities of Government and Society for Stronger Labor Standards Enforcement"; California Department of Industrial Relations, "Public Works Reforms (SB 854) Fact Sheet," available at http://www.dir.ca.gov/ public-works/PublicWorksSB854.html (last accessed February 2017).
- 63 Fine, "Co-Production: Bringing Together the Unique Capabilities of Government and Society for Stronger Labor Standards Enforcement"; Tia Koonse, Miranda Dietz, and Annette Bernhardt, "Enforcing City Minimum Wage Laws in California: Best Practices and City-State Partnerships" (Los Angeles and Berkeley, CA: UCLA Labor Center and UC Berkeley Labor Center, 2015), available at http://laborcenter.berkeley.edu/pdf/2015/ minimum-wage-enforcement.pdf; Seattle Office of Labor Standards, "Community Outreach and Education Fund - Guidelines 2015," available at http://www. seattle.gov/laborstandards/outreach/community-fund/ guidelines (last accessed February 2017); Letter from Libby Schaaf and Sabrina Landreth to Honorable City Council and Residents of Oakland, "Proposed Amended Midcycle Policy Budget for Fiscal Year 2016-17," May 26, 2016, available at http://www2.oaklandnet.com/ oakca1/groups/cityadministrator/documents/policy/ oak059136.pdf.
- 64 Coalition to Promote Independent Entrepreneurs, "Wage Theft Prevention and Wage Recovery Act, H.R. 4763 and S. 2697," April 4, 2016, available at http:// www.iecoalition.org/federal-news/wage-theft-prevention-and-wage-recovery-act-h-r-4763-and-s-2697/.
- 65 Note that the vast majority of states have a private right of action for at least some wage and hour laws. See Jacob Meyer and Robert Greenleaf, "Enforcement of State Wage and Hour Laws: A Survey of State Regulators" (New York: National State Attorneys General Program, 2011), available at http://web.law.columbia.edu/ sites/default/files/microsites/attorneys-general/files/ Wage%20and%20Hour%20Report%20FINAL_0.pdf.
- 66 General Assembly of Maryland, "Article Labor and Employment §3-911," available at http:// mgaleg.maryland.gov/webmga/frmStatutesText. aspx?article=gle§ion=3-911&ext=html&session= 2017RS&tab=subject5 (last accessed February 2017); Employee Classification Act, Illinois Compiled Statutes 820 § 185 (2016), available at http://law.justia.com/ codes/illinois/2016/chapter-820/act-820-ilcs-185/.
- 67 American Bar Association, "Rule 5.4: Professional Independence of a Lawyer," available at http://www. americanbar.org/groups/professional_responsibility/ publications/model_rules_of_professional_conduct/ rule_5_4_professional_independence_of_a_lawyer. html (last accessed February 2017).

- 68 California Assembly Bill No. 1897 (2014), available at https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billNavClient. xhtml?bill_id=201320140AB1897.
- 69 State of California Labor and Workforce Development Agency, "Private Attorneys General Act (PAGA)," available at http://labor.ca.gov/Private_Attorneys_General_Act.htm (last accessed February 2017).
- 70 Richard Kahlenberg, "A State Legislative Strategy for Labor," ZNET, July 14, 2013, available at https://zcomm. org/znetarticle/a-state-legislative-strategy-for-labor-byrichard-kahlenberg/; Richard D. Kahlenberg and Moshe Z. Marvit, "Labor at a Crossroads: Can Broadened Civil Rights Law Offer Workers a True Right to Organize?", The American Prospect, January 12, 2015, available at http:// prospect.org/article/labor-crossroads-can-broadenedcivil-rights-law-offer-workers-true-right-organize.
- 71 Matthew Finkin, "From Weight Checking to Wage Checking: Arming Workers to Combat Wage Theft," Indiana Law Journal (forthcoming), available at https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=2433598.
- 72 Ibid.
- 73 Angela Hanks, "Now Is the Time to Invest in Apprenticeships" (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2016), available at https://www.americanprogress.org/ issues/economy/reports/2016/11/18/292558/now-isthe-time-to-invest-in-apprenticeships/.
- 74 Alison L. Booth, Marco Francesconi, and Gylfi Zoega, "Unions, Work-Related Training, and Wages: Evidence for British Men" (Bonn, Germany: IZA, 2003), available at http://ftp.iza.org/dp737.pdf; Christian Dustmann and Uta Schonberg, "Training and Union Wages," The Review of Economics and Statistics 91 (2) (2009): 363-376; Daron Acemoglu and Jorn-Steffen Pischke, "Beyond Becker: Training in Imperfect Labour Markets," The Economic Journal 109 (453) (1999): F112-F142.
- 75 Cihan Bilginsoy, "The Hazards of Training: Attrition and Retention in Construction Industry Apprenticeship Programs," Industrial and Labor Relations Review 57 (1) (2003): 54-67.
- 76 Richard Hendra and others, "Encouraging Evidence on a Sector-Focused Advancement Strategy" (New York: MRDC, 2016), available at http://www.mdrc.org/ publication/encouraging-evidence-sector-focusedadvancement-strategy-0; Carol Clymer and others, "Tuning In to Local Labor Markets: Findings From the Sectoral Employment Impact Study" (Philadelphia: Public Private Ventures, 2010), available at http://ppv. issuelab.org/resource/tuning_in_to_local_labor_markets_findings_from_the_sectoral_employment_impact_study; Lindsey Woolsey and Garrett Groves, "State Sector Strategies Coming of Age: Implications for State Workforce Policymakers" (Washington: National Governors Association Center for Best Practices, 2016). available at http://www.nationalskillscoalition.org/ resources/publications/file/state-sector-strategiescoming-of-age.pdf.
- 77 See, for example, Amalgamated Transit Union and American Public Transportation Association, "Working Together: A Systems Approach for Transit Training," available at https://www.apta.com/resources/workforce/Documents/Working_Together.pdf (last accessed February 2017).
- 78 Vickie Choitz, Matt Helmer, and Maureen Conway, "Improving Jobs to Improve Care" (Washington: Aspen Institute, 2015), available at http://www.aspenwsi.org/ wordpress/wp-content/uploads/SEIU-CaseStudy.pdf.

- 79 Note that home care aides providing care to their own family members have lower training requirements. See Washington State Department of Social and Health Services, "Individual Providers," available at https://www. dshs.wa.gov/altsa/home-and-community-services/ individual-providers (last accessed February 2017).
- 80 Choitz, Helmer, and Conway, "Improving Jobs to Improve Care."
- 81 Ibid. For an additional example of a labor-management training program for health care workers, see Alaska's Health Care Apprenticeship Consortium, "Home," available at http://ahcac.net/ (last accessed February 2017).
- 82 Susan C. Reinhard and others, "Raising Expectations: A State Scorecard on Long-Term Services and Supports for Older Adults, People with Physical Disabilities, and Family Caregivers" (Washington; New York; and Long Beach, CA: AARP, The Commonwealth Fund, and The SCAN Foundation, 2014), available at http:// www.longtermscorecard.org/~/media/Microsite/ Files/2014/Reinhard_LTSS_Scorecard_web_619v2_ rev_04152016.pdf.
- 83 VOICE CSEA, "VOICE The VOICE of Independent Child Care Workers," available at http://voicecsea.org/ (last accessed February 2017).
- 84 Angela Hanks and Ethan Gurwitz, "How States Are Expanding Apprenticeship" (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2016), available at https:// www.americanprogress.org/issues/economy/reports/2016/02/09/130750/how-states-are-expandingapprenticeship/.
- 85 Booth, Francesconi, and Zoega, "Unions, Work-Related Training, and Wages"; Dustmann and Schonberg, "Training and Union Wages"; Acemoglu and Pischke, "Beyond Becker."
- 86 Pennsylvania Department of Labor & Industry, "Pennsylvania's Industry Partnerships," available at http:// www.dli.pa.gov/Businesses/Workforce-Development/ Pages/Industry-Partnerships.aspx (last accessed February 2017). Additional information obtained through personal communication from Stephen Herzenberg, executive director, Keystone Research Center, January
- 87 Partnership for Working Families, "Policy & Tools: Responsible Contracting," available at http://www. forworking families.org/page/policy-tools-responsiblecontracting (last accessed February 2017).
- 88 Office of the Governor of Alaska, "Administrative Order No. 278," available at http://www.gov.state.ak.us/ admin-orders/278.html (last accessed February 2017); Statement on file with author from Roger Healy, Juneau engineering/public works director, January 2017.
- 89 Washington State Department of Labor and Industries, "Apprenticeship Utilization Fact Sheet" (2008), available at http://www.lni.wa.gov/TradesLicensing/Apprenticeship/files/pubs/aurdescription.pdf.
- 90 Chicago Department of Procurement Services, "Apprentice Utilization Bid Preference," available at https:// www.citvofchicago.org/content/dam/citv/depts/ dps/RulesRegulations/Apprentice%20Utilization%20 Bid%20Preference.pdf (last accessed February 2017).

- 91 For a more developed explanation of how this model would work in the United States, see Madland, "The Future of Worker Voice and Power." For details on how it works in other countries and its effectiveness, see Tim Van Rie, Ive Marx, and Jeroen Horemans, "Ghent revisited: Unemployment insurance and union membership in Belgium and the Nordic countries." European Journal of Industrial Relations 17 (2) (2011): 125-139; Matthew Dimick, "Labor Law, New Governance, and the Ghent System," North Carolina Law Review 90 (2) (2012): 320-378; Lyle Scruggs, "The Ghent System and Union Membership in Europe, 1970-1996," Political Research Quarterly 55 (2) (2002): 275-297; Bo Rothstein, "Labormarket institutions and working-class strength." In Sven Steinmo, Kathleen Thelen, and Frank Longstreth, eds., Historical Institutionalism in Comparative Analysis (Cambridge, United Kingdom: Cambridge University
- 92 Scruggs, "The Ghent System and Union Membership in Europe": Van Rie, Marx, and Horemans, "Ghent revisited"; Bruce Western, "Postwar Unionization in Eighteen Advanced Capitalist Countries," American Sociological Review 58 (2) (1993): 266-282; Dimick, "Labor Law, New Governance, and the Ghent System."
- 93 Jelle Visser, "Union membership statistics in 24 countries," Monthly Labor Review 129 (1) (2006): 38-49; Jelle Visser, "ICTWSS Database, version 5.0" (Amsterdam: Amsterdam Institute for Advanced Labour Studies). available at http://uva-aias.net/en/ictwss (last accessed February 2017).
- 94 U.S. Department of State Bureau of Consular Affairs, "Driving and Road Safety Abroad," available at https:// travel.state.gov/content/passports/en/go/safety/road. html (last accessed February 2017).
- 95 Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services, "In-Person Assistance in the Health Insurance Marketplaces," available at https://www.cms.gov/CCIIO/Programs-and-Initiatives/Health-Insurance-Marketplaces/assistance. html (last accessed February 2017).
- 96 Patricia M. Anderson and Bruce D. Meyer, "Unemployment Insurance Takeup Rates and the After-Tax Value of Benefits," The Quarterly Journal of Economics 112 (3) (1997): 913-936; Stéphane Auray, David L. Fuller, and Damba Lkhagvasuren, "Unemployment Insurance Take-up Rates in an Equilibrium Search Model." Working Paper 2015-01 (Chaire Securisation des Parcours Professionnels, 2015), available at http://chaire-securisation. fr/SharedFiles/44_TU.pdf.
- 97 Wayne Vroman, "An Analysis of Unemployment Insurance Non-Filers: 2005 CPS Supplement Results" (Columbia, MD: IMPAQ International, 2008), available at https://wdr.doleta.gov/research/FullText_Documents/ An%20Analysis%20of%20Unemployment%20Insurance%20Non-Filers%20-%202005%20CPS%20Supplement%20Results.pdf.
- 98 Dimick, "Labor Law, New Governance, and the Ghent System."
- 99 Albert Shanker Institute, "Learning Partnerships: Strengthening American Jobs in the Global Economy" (2004), available at https://eric.ed.gov/?id=ED498119; Mark Stuart, "Trade union learning representatives in Britain: policy innovation in VET," Presented at Center for the Economics of Education & Training, Melbourne, Victoria, 2004, available at http://www.voced.edu.au/ content/ngv%3A34841.

- 100 For details on various state plans to provide retirement savings options to additional workers, see Pension Rights Center, "State-based retirement plans for the private sector," available at http://www.pensionrights.org/ issues/legislation/state-based-retirement-plans-private-sector (last accessed February 2017). For a broader conception of benefit provision, see Nick Hanauer and David Rolf, "Shared Security, Shared Growth," Democracy (37) (2015), available at http://democracyjournal. org/magazine/37/shared-security-shared-growth/.
- 101 Department of Industrial Relations, "Labor-management (carve-out) agreements," available at https://www.dir. ca.gov/dwc/carveout.html (last accessed February 2017); The New York State Senate, "Worker's Compensation," available at https://www.nysenate.gov/legislation/laws/ WKC/25 (last accessed February 2017); Minnesota Statute 176.1812, available at https://www.revisor.mn.gov/ statutes/?id=176.1812 (last accessed February 2017).
- 102 Fred B. Kotler, "Alternative Dispute Resolution [ADR] for Workers Compensation in Collective Bargaining Agreements: An Overview" (Ithica, NY: Cornell University, 2012), available at http://digitalcommons.ilr.cornell.edu/ cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1043&context=reports.
- 103 Meredith Minkler and others, "Wage Theft as a Neglected Public Health Problem: An Overview and Case Study From San Francisco's Chinatown District." American Journal of Public Health 104 (6) (2014): 1010-1020.
- 104 Ballotpedia, "Los Angeles, California, Affordable Housing and Labor Standards Initiative, Measure JJJ (November 2016)," available at https://ballotpedia.org/ Los_Angeles,_California,_Affordable_Housing_and_Labor_Standards_Initiative,_Measure_JJJ_(November_2016) (last accessed February 2017).
- 105 Los Angeles Ordinance No. 18298 (2014), available at http://clkrep.lacity.org/onlinedocs/2010/10-1797-s16_ ord_182986.pdf.
- 106 California Assembly Bill No. 1387 (2013), available at http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billNavClient. xhtml?bill_id=201320140AB1387.
- 107 Sara Bernard, "The Fight to Bring Hotel Housekeepers Out of the Shadows," Seattle Weekly, June 15, 2016, available at http://www.seattleweekly.com/news/thefight-to-bring-hotel-housekeepers-out-of-the-shadows/; Sandra Kensbock and others, "Sexual Harassment of Women Working as Room Attendants within 5-Star Hotels," Gender, Work, and Organization 22 (1) (2014): 36-50.

- 108 Seattle Initiative 124 (2016), available at http://clerk. seattle.gov/~cfpics/CF_319639k.pdf.
- 109 California Assembly Bill 1978 (2016), available at http:// leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billCompareClient. xhtml?bill_id=201520160AB1978.
- 110 Michelle Miller and Eric Harris Bernstein, "New Frontiers of Worker Power: Challenges and Opportunities in the Modern Economy" (New York: Roosevelt Institute, 2016), available at http://rooseveltinstitute.org/ new-frontiers-worker-power/; Marshall Steinbaum, "Uber's Antitrust Problem." The American Prospect. May 11, 2016, available at http://prospect.org/article/ uber%E2%80%99s-antitrust-problem.
- 111 Christopher Neely, "Austin City Council requires workers' protection for new expedited permitting program," Community Impact Newspaper, February 2, 2017, available at https://communityimpact.com/austin/citycounty/2017/02/02/austin-city-council-requires-workers-protection-new-expedited-permitting-program/; Austin City Council, "Resolution No. 20170202-042" (2017), available at http://www.austintexas.gov/edims/ document.cfm?id=271571.

- 113 California Agricultural Labor Relations Board, "About the Agricultural Labor Relations Board," available at http://www.alrb.ca.gov/AboutUs.shtml (last accessed February 2017); Schriever, "The Home Health Care Industry's Organizing Nightmare"; Stephen Greenhouse, "Child Care Workers Get Right to Unionize," The New York Times, May 12, 2007, available at http://query. nytimes.com/gst/fullpage.html?res=9D0CE3DB1531F9 31A25756C0A9619C8B63.
- 114 Charlotte Garden, "What Will Become of Public-Sector Unions Now?", The Atlantic, February 16, 2016, available at http://www.theatlantic.com/business/ archive/2016/02/scalia-friedrichs/462936/; California Senate Bill No. 878 (2014), available at https://leginfo. legislature.ca.gov/faces/billTextClient.xhtml?bill_ id=201320140SB878.
- 115 Madland, "The Future of Worker Voice and Power."

Our Mission

The Center for American Progress Action Fund is an independent, nonpartisan policy institute and advocacy organization that is dedicated to improving the lives of all Americans, through bold, progressive ideas, as well as strong leadership and concerted action. Our aim is not just to change the conversation, but to change the country.

Our Values

As progressives, we believe America should be a land of boundless opportunity, where people can climb the ladder of economic mobility. We believe we owe it to future generations to protect the planet and promote peace and shared global prosperity.

And we believe an effective government can earn the trust of the American people, champion the common good over narrow self-interest, and harness the strength of our diversity.

Our Approach

We develop new policy ideas, challenge the media to cover the issues that truly matter, and shape the national debate. With policy teams in major issue areas, The Center for American Progress Action Fund can think creatively at the cross-section of traditional boundaries to develop ideas for policymakers that lead to real change. By employing an extensive communications and outreach effort that we adapt to a rapidly changing media landscape, we move our ideas aggressively in the national policy debate.

Center for American Progress Action Fund